ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COVM TTEE ON EDUCATI ON
March 25, 2003
11: 04 a.m

MVEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Carl Gatto, Chair
Representati ve Paul Seaton, Vice Chair
Representati ve Dan Ogg

Representative Peggy W1 son
Representative Les Gara
Representative Mary Kapsner

MVEMBERS ABSENT
Representative Kelly Wl f
COW TTEE CALENDAR

HOUSE BI LL NO. 72

"An Act relating to the qualifications and appointnent of
menbers of the Board of Regents of the University of Al aska; and
providing for an effective date."

- MOVED CSHB 72(EDU) OUT OF COWM TTEE
PREVI OUS ACTI ON
BILL: HB 72

SHORT TI TLE: BOARD OF REGENTS QUALI FI CATI ONS
SPONSCOR( S) : REPRESENTATI VE( S) GUTTENBERG

Jrn-Date Jrn- Page Action

02/ 05/ 03 0130 (H READ THE FI RST TI ME -
REFERRALS

02/ 05/ 03 0130 (H EDU, HES

03/ 25/ 03 (H EDU AT 11: 00 AM CAPI TOL 124

W TNESS REG STER

REPRESENTATI VE DAVI D GUTTENBERG

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT:  As sponsor of HB 72, explained the purpose
of the bill and answered questions fromthe nenbers.

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE -1- March 25, 2003



CH P WAGONER

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 72 and answered
questions fromthe commttee.

JENNI FER LESH, Legislative Affairs Director

Coalition of Student Leaders

Uni versity of Al aska Sout heast

Pet ersburg, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 72 and answered
guestions fromthe commttee.

KACI HAM LTON, Student

Uni versity of Al aska Sout heast

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: As a student at the University of Al aska
Sout heast, testified in support of HB 72.

SAHAR GHORBANPOUR, Student Anbassador

University of Al aska Sout heast

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified in support of HB 72 and answered
questions fromthe commttee.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

TAPE 03-15, SIDE A
Number 0001

CHAI R CARL GATTO called the House Special Conmmttee on Education
nmeeting to order at 11:04 a.m Representatives Gatto, Seaton,
gy, and Gara were pr esent at t he cal | to order.
Representatives WIson and Kapsner arrived as the neeting was in
pr ogr ess.

HB 72-BOARD OF REGENTS QUALI FI CATI ONS

Number 0084

CHAI R GATTO announced that the only order of business would be
HOUSE BILL NO 72, "An Act relating to the qualifications and
appoi ntment of nenbers of the Board of Regents of the University
of Al aska; and providing for an effective date."

CHAIR GATTO introduced and wel coned Representative Dan (Ogg as
t he newest nenber of the commttee.

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 2- March 25, 2003



CHAI R GATTO explained that this bill allows for there to be two
student nenbers of the Board of Regents, one which will be a
voting nenber and the other a nonvoting nenber. Theoreti cal |y,
the nonvoting nmenber would be in training the first year and
becone the voting nenber the next year.

Nunber 0211

REPRESENTATI VE DAVI D GUTTENBERG, Al aska State Legislature, as
sponsor of HB 72, explained the purpose of the bill and answered
guestions fromthe nmenbers. He said this bill is in response to
a situation that occurred |ast year when a student regent was
not confirmed by the |egislature. He said he represents the

university district in Fairbanks, where the students canme to him
and asked himto ook for a way to address the frustration they
experienced with the legislature for not confirm ng that student
regent.

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG told the conmmittee the students had a
bill drafted that said there would be two student regents.
There were problens with this legislation because having two
student regents would mean that there would be 12 regents, an
even nunber, and that does not work. So in thinking about what
sone of the questions were, the concept of having each student
regent serve a two-year term emerged. In the past there have
been tinmes when a student regent resigned or stepped down for
various reasons, and if there were two student regents, there
woul d al ways be one there. He said if there are two regents and
they serve alternating years, where one is appointed in the
first year, a junior student regent, then the next vyear that
regent would nove up to the senior student regent position.
Then a new one cones on and serves as the junior student regent.
During the first year the regent would not have voting rights,
but would be allowed to participate. This process would
acconplish a few things. It allows the opportunity to catch up
faster without any pressure, and allows nore students to have
the opportunity to have "student regent” on their resunes.
These students are highly notivated and focused. \While student
regents serve for two years, the rest of the Board of Regents

serves eight years. It is a considerable difference.
Representative Guttenberg told the conmittee he thinks this is a
good way to address the problem It is a policy call by the

| egislature to address the situation that has happened to the
student regents and give them nore opportunities.

Nunmber 0453

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 3- March 25, 2003



CHAI R GATTO asked about the nonvoting student regent's ability
to vote in subcomm ttee neetings.

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG responded that the junior regent can
vote in subconmittees, and the senior regent has full wvoting
privileges. He commented that the junior regent participates in
everything except votes by the full body, and as the nenbers
know, a considerable amunt of work and influence can be done in
subconmm tt ees.

CHAI R GATTO conmented that it is clear how the succession from
junior to senior regent works, but what happens if both regents
| eave office at the sane time and there are two new regents. He
asked what nmethod determ nes the senior and the junior regent.

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG responded that the bill says the
senior and junior regent would be determ ned by date of service.
So theoretically if one was appointed a day sooner or |ater
that woul d determ ne the junior or senior status.

CHAIR GATTO said he sees a small problem Wen there are two
regents up for confirmation, how does the |egislature determ ne
who is junior or senior - by a flip of a coin or a vote of the
regent s?

Nunmber 0608

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON pointed out that since these regents
positions are for different periods of tinme, one a two-year term
and one a one-year term that would determne it.

Nunmber 0633

CHAIR GATTO responded that is <correct, but asked what the
sel ection procedure is when there are two new regents comng in
at the sanme tine.

REPRESENTATI VE W LSON said she thinks when two students are
elected at the sane tine, one would be running for a one-year
term and another for a two-year term  The person with the one-
year termwould be a senior at the university.

Nunber 0690
REPRESENTATI VE KAPSNER asked if it is necessary have to have a

certain anount of credits to run for student regents, or whether
it could be a freshman

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE -4- March 25, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE OGG pointed to page 2 [lines 14-16] which says a
regent nust "remain enrolled as a full-tinme student at the
University of Alaska during the term for which the regent was
appoi nted".

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG said theoretically a freshman coul d be
on the Board of Regents, but, if so, the student would
definitely be an overachiever.

CHAI R GATTO pointed out that a freshman could be 35 years old
with a | aw background and could have served in the |egislature.
He suggested that the commttee work on the |anguage so the
intent of the conmttee is clear.

Number 0822

REPRESENTATI VE OGG said there could be some clarification based
on the welection process, that the candidates would select
whet her they were running for either the one-year position or
two-year position. That needs to be clarified in the statutes.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON referred the nenbers to page 2, |ines 30-

31, where it talks about this point. If a regent resigns, then
that office would be for [the unexpired term of] the original
appoi ntee, whereas the other person will be running for a full-
term seat. He said that |anguage might already clarify the

guestion by the conmttee.

CHAI R GATTO agreed that the |anguage does clarify that question
in that the election separates the terns of office.

Nunmber 0936

REPRESENTATI VE OGG referred to page 2, line 22, where there is a
di scussi on about subcomrittees. He said that as a nenber of the
Board of Regents for eight years, he does not recall any
reference to subcommittees, only comittees. He said he
believes that |anguage is incorrect, and it should be verified
with the university.

CHAIR GATTO asked Representative Og if he is saying
subcomm ttees do not exist.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG said he does not ever recall serving on a
subcomm ttee of one of the standing commttees.

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 5- March 25, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG responded that the intent was to use
the term "commttee"” rather than "subcommittee"”, and that he
woul d consi der a change in the | anguage as a friendly anendnent.

Number 1072
REPRESENTATI VE W LSON noved to anend HB 72 as foll ows:
On page 2, line 22

delete the word "subcomm ttees”
insert the word "comm ttees"

CHAI R GATTO asked if there were any objections to the anendnent.
There being no objection, the amendnent was adopt ed.

Number 1117

CH P WAGONER testified in support of HB 72, provided a brief
history on the student regent position, and answered questions
fromthe conmttee. He told the conmttee that although he is a
regi stered | obbyist, he is representing only hinself today. He
explained he is interested in this bill because of his persona

experiences when he attended the University of Al aska. He said
when he was going to the University, the Board of Regents
neetings were held in a room snaller than the one the commttee
is nmeeting in and there would be very few people in attendance

He said current neetings have a |arge attendance. M. Wagoner
said he attended because he was the student body president and
served as a student representative on the university assenbly.
He said that at the time he felt that the students needed nore
representation on the Board of Regents because even though he
was there and was allowed to participate, by not having the
right to vote, he felt as though he was a second-class citizen
and not effective.

MR. WAGONER told the commttee that with the support of the
student body, he prepared a position paper and in 1972 cane to
the | egislature, where he advocated for students to have a ful

voting nenber on the Board of Regents. He said the student
body, both in Fairbanks and Anchorage, was united on this. As
the bill nade its way through the process, it becane clear that

a one-year termas a voting nenber was not sufficient because it
takes a year to learn about the personalities of other nenbers

and learn the system So the prine sponsor of the bill, then-
Senator Terry MIller, changed it to nmake it a two-year term
The first year the bill went through the legislative process it

di ed; the second year it passed. Then-Senator MIler and then-

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 6- March 25, 2003



Representative Bradner, both from Fairbanks, pushed the bil

t hrough w thout nuch opposition. The two-year term as a voting
menber of the regents really helped the students in being
represent ed. One of the students becane an officer of the
board; had the term only been a one-year term that would not
have been happened.

MR. WAGONER said he believes it is the vote that gives the
position credibility. He offered his belief that changing the

representation to a junior and senior regent wll hurt the
students nore than help them He recommended that if the
committee is going to do anything it should add a second regent,
as opposed to cutting the power in half. He added that the
situation that occurred last year has only occurred once in 28
years. He said he thinks the sponsor's heart is in the right
place in representing the Fairbanks comunity. He reiterated

that he believes doing this is cutting the power of the student
regent in half by giving that student regent the power to vote
only one year as opposed to two years.

Nunber 1468

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG commented that he has talked wth M.
Wagoner about his concerns regarding the student regents' having

respect and authority on the Board of Regents. He said he
believes this bill does provide respect and authority in a
stronger sense. There is no division of the vote. The student
regent still has the vote for one year instead of two, but is on
the Board of Regents for two years. The first year, allows a
nonvoting menber to expand and get to know everyone and the
I ssues. He said he does not believe having the vote in the
second year will dimnish that power or authority. He said that
while he and M. Wagoner agree on sone parts of the bill, they

do not agree on others.

CHAI R GATTO asked what happens when a nonvoting nenber, who wl|
be the voting nenber the next year, quits school. The voting
menber is now gone and the situation is now back to where it was
earlier. He asked whether the voting nenber typically is in the
| ast year of school.

Nunber 1512
REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG pointed out that since the term of a

student regent is for tw years, the latest a student could be
el ected to the Board of Regents would be in the student's junior

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE -7- March 25, 2003



year, because as soon as a regent is no |longer a student, that
i ndividual is off the board.

Nunber 1512

JENNI FER  LESH, Legislative Affairs D rector, Coalition of
Student Leaders, University of Al aska Southeast, testified in
support of HB 72 and answered questions fromthe commttee. She
said she believes it is inportant for students to always have a
representative. Last year the student body went wthout a
student representative for five nonths. She said she believes
having a junior regent would be valuable, since it would afford
a year's training and experience before stepping into the full
role as a regent.

Number 1594

KACI HAM LTOQN, St udent , University of Al aska  Sout heast,
testified in support of HB 72. She said she supports this bil
because it is inportant t hat students have continuous
representation on the Board of Regents. She said having a
second regent would allow somewhat of an apprenticeship system
The regent would be allowed to cone in with a greater know edge
of the Board of Regents and would be better able to handle the
duties and roles they wll encounter. No one knows student
matters better than students, so having that second regent on
the board who is know edgeabl e, ready, and knows what it is al
about woul d benefit all students and the Board of Regents.

Nunmber 1673

SAHAR GHORBANPOUR, Student Anbassador, University of Al aska
Sout heast, testified in support of HB 72 and answered questions

from the committee. She told the commttee that she has not
talked to any students who see anything negative about this
bill. It is an exciting concept to have two people on the Board

of Regents because she views it as nentorship program where it
allows both regents to serve their entire term nore effectively.
They have each other as a support system and there is an
opportunity to learn the ways of the Board of Regents. The
first year of anything, whether for a legislator or a regent, is
really a learning year. To have soneone else there to bounce
ideas off of, the entire process and procedures, would be
valuable. It would add a |ot of cohesion to the board and woul d
create nore unity. This bill also allows nore students to have
a part of that process. She pointed out that it could nean two

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 8- March 25, 2003



separate canpuses could be represented at the sane tinme and add
to the dynam cs of the board.

M5. GHORBANPOUR said in response to Chair Gatto's question that
she is a liberal arts student, with an enphasis in psychol ogy
and biology in the hopes of going on to nmedical school.

Nunmber 1885

M5. GHORBANPOUR responded to a series of questions from Chair
Gatto by saying that she went to a Board of Regents neeting |ast
year . She thought the neeting was productive and that the
regent was very well respected. She commented that she does not
believe that would change if there were a second student regent

on the board. It was a very successful neeting. She said she
woul d be interested in being a student regent, and since this is
only her second year, she has tine. She noted that as a

graduat e student she could serve as wel|.
Number 1923

REPRESENTATI VE GARA commented that he thought he had just heard
a conpelling reason why Chair Gatto, Representative Ogg, and he
shoul d not be able to vote either.

Nunber 1971

REPRESENTATI VE KAPSNER noved to report HB 72, as anended, out of
commttee with individual recomendations and the acconpanying
fiscal notes.

Nunmber 1985

REPRESENTATIVE OGG told the commttee that he served on the
[ Board of Regents] conmmttee for eight years and served wth
many di stingui shed individuals. He said he served with two
student regents who becane officers of the board, and he agrees
with M. Wagoner's assessnent that had the student regent only
been a voting menber for one year, that possibly would not have
happened. He also said he saw no inability of the student
regent he worked with in junping in and performng the full
duties of a regent. The respect the other regents gave [the
student regents] was wonderful. He did not notice the student
regents having any nore difficulty than any other first-year
regent. He does have concerns about voting in committees
because that is where nost of the work is done, and nost of the
voting that is done before the full Board of Regents is nostly

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE - 9- March 25, 2003



pro forna. This bill would actually increase the voting

capacity of the student regents to two instead of one. He
suggested that there may need to be nore work done on that
portion of the bill or maybe that part should be deleted. He

said he likes the fact that at |east one of the regents nust be
a graduate of the University of Alaska and pointed out that
Governor Murkowski put that in this year.

Nunber 2145

CHAI R GATTO asked, if Representative (Ogg's concern is that the
student regents would have too mnuch influence in commttee
votes, whether that concern could be addressed by prohibiting
two student regents from serving on the sane conmmttee. He
rephrased his question by asking if Representative Ogg's concern
is that having two students on the sanme commttee at the sane
time woul d be overwei ghing the commttee.

REPRESENTATIVE OGG said he does not object to one student

regent's having the ability to vote. However, if another
student regent is added to commttees, they wll not be
bal anced. He explained that a second student regent who is

allowed to vote changes the structure of the conmttees.
Currently, five nenbers sit on the standing conmttees, which
are Academic and Student Affairs Conmttee, Finance and Audit

Commttee, and Facilities & Land Mnagenent Conmittee. The
chair of the Board of Regents can serve on any committee he or
she wi shes to, and cones in and out of those neetings. If one

nore regent is added to the standing commttees, there would be
six on one and five on another. Representative Ogyg said it is a
del i cat e bal ance.

Nunber 2217

CHAI R GATTO asked what his solution would be.

REPRESENTATI VE OGG said he believes this bill is based on a
reaction to an anomaly. He does not think it would happen again
and, if so, it would be very rare. To change the structure of

the Board of Regents based on an anomaly is goi ng overboard.

REPRESENTATI VE KAPSNER nade a point of order that there is a
notion on the table.

Number 2390

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE -10- March 25, 2003



REPRESENTATI VE OGG thanked the nenbers for the opportunity to
di scuss hi s concerns.

A roll <call vote was taken. Representatives @Gtto, Gara,
Kapsner, Seaton, and WIson voted in favor of reporting HB 72,
as anended, from committee. Representative (Ogg voted against
it. Therefore, CSHB 27(EDU) was reported out of the House
Speci al Commttee on Education by a vote of 5-1.

ADJ QURNVENT
There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Special Conmittee on Education neeting was adjourned at 11:40
a. m

HOUSE EDU COW TTEE -11- March 25, 2003



